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IN THE UNIT ED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA

RAMSEY COULTER
V. . CIVILACTION NO. 20-1820

SAGESTREAM, LLC

McHUGH, J. NOVEMBER 17, 2020
MEMORANDUM
l. Introduction

This is a putative class action arising under the Fair Credit Reporting AcA)FCRuintiff
Ramsey Coulter asserts that Defendant SageStida@is, response to a disputed credit report
entry was inadequate under the statute. First, Plaintiff allegeSdgaiStreamiolated £ction
1681e(b) oFCRA, which requires th@bnsumereporting agencies follow reasonable procedures
to assure accacy of information in consumer reports. Second, Plaintiff alleges that Defendant
violated section 1681i of FCRA, which outlines Defendant’s obligations to conduct a
reinvestigation of Plaintiff's file oncaotified of a consumer’'slispute.Finally, Plaintiff alleges
various procedural deficits the letterSageStrearsent reporting the results it$ reinvestigation
againinvoking section1681i.

Defendant responds with a threshold argumerderthe Supreme Court’s decision in
Spokeg contendingthat Plaintiff lacks standing to bring this action altogether, due to a failure
sufficiently to articulateany cognizable injuriesBut as applied by the Third CircuBpokeadid
not dramatically alter the law on standing, with the result that Coulterés alaims survive.

Sagestrearfurthermoves to dismiss for failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted.
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As to Plaintiff’'s more inventive claims, the motion will be grantéds to the central allegations

of Coulter’'s complaint, however, the motion will be denied.

I. Factual Background

Plaintiff filed for Chapter 7 bankruptcy in April 2015, and Plaintiff’'s Lending Club credit ca
account, along with other accounts, was included in the bankruptcy proceedings. Am. Compl. |
6-7, ECF 4. Three years laten or aroundipril 24, 2018, Plaintiff asserts he reviewed his credit
report from SageStream and found that his now defunct Lending Club account, along with debts
purportedly owed on the account, were erroneosidlylisted. 1d.  89. The report incorrectly
stated that Plaintiff owe$i5,811 on this account in 2016 ar@j67in 2017, even though the debt
hadbeen discharged through the bankruptick.{ 9. Plaintiff sent a dispute letter dated April 24,
2018 to Defendant regarding this alleged mistdkef 10.

Sagestreamesponded to Plaintiff's dispute in a letter dated July 26, 204.8f 16; Def.

Reinvestigation Letter, ECF 6 Plaintiff alleges that this response was untimely under the statute
which requires that a reinvestigation be completed within thirty.dags Compl. 1 16; 15 U.S.C.
8 1681i(a)(1)(A) Plaintiff further alleges that Defendant either did not contact Lending lab i
timely fashion, or upon receiving a response from Lending Club, did not provide the results of the
investigation to Plaintiff. Id. { 17. Plaintiff further alleges that Bfendant did not delete the
inaccuratanformation from his credit reportd. § 33.

Plaintiff also asserts that the lether received from Defendafatiled to contain appropriate

disclosures required under FCRparticularly with regard to notifying I&ntiff that he could

! Both Defendanand Plaintiff bothreferto Defendant’s July 26, 2018 letter being attached to Plaintiff's Amended
Complaint as Exhibit Abut no such letter was attached. The letter appears to have been uploaded by Datfendant
ECF 6 and | will refer to this letter thrghout.
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request further information about the procedures used by Defendant to assess his Idisffite.
18-25. Moreover, Plaintiff contends that Defendant’s letter did not state with theitequis
specificity the statutory timelines faarinishing notification of disputed or deleted information to
third parties at a disputantrequest andlid not expressly say that notice could be provided for
disputed (as opposed to deleted) informatiwh f{ 2633.

Finally, Plaintiff asserts an atteative theory of liability based on Defendant operating as
a “reseller” of information obtained from another consumer reporting agency, Innatés D
Solutions. Id. 1 3638. Once again, Plaintiff maintains thaagestreandid not make the
disclosures required under the statutied. 1 3943. As a result of Defendant’s errors, Plaintiff
avers that he “suffered actual damages, mental anguish, frustration, humiliation, and

embarrassment.d. § 73.

[I. Standing

Federal courts are courts of limitgdrisdiction, and the plaintiff bears the burden of
establishing that subjeatatter jurisdiction existsSeelLujan v. Defenders of Wildlifé&s04 U.S.
555, 561 (1992). In order to establish jurisdiction, a plaintiff must show that she has standing,
suchthat a “case or controversgxists, as is required by Article 11l of the U.S. Constitutidah.
at 559. There are three elements of Article Il standing: “First, an injurgindaan invasion of
a legally protected interest that is concrete andqodatized. Second, a causal connection between
the injury and the conduct complained of. And third, a likelihood that the injury will bessadte
by a favorable decision.In re Horizon Healthcare Servs. Data Breach Litig46 F.3d 625, 633
(3d Cir. 2A.7) (hereafter “Horizon")citing Lujan, 504 U.S. at 5661). These requirements do
not change in the class action context; rather, one of the named plaintiffsstabssk Article IlI

standing.ld. at 634.
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Defendant argues that Plaintiff has notabthed standing, and that | am thus deprived of
subjectmatter jurisdiction over this caseDef. Motion to Dismiss at 2, ECFR? Defendant
argues that Plaintiff has not shown the first element of stardiag injury in fact. Id.
Defendant’s challenge is a facial attack (rather than a factual one) because Dederdambt
contest the facts alleged in the complaint, but rather argues that the faceseagqul, are not
sufficient to confer standing as a matter of laBee Hartiy Drug Co. v. Senju Pharm. C&36
F.3d 261, 268 (3d Cir. 2016).

Intangible injuries may suffice to confer standing, as long as they are particularized a
concrete. See Spokeo v. Robjris36 S. Ct. 1540, 1548 (2016)In Spokeothe Supreme Court
clarified thatin analyzing whether a plaintiff has shown an “injury in fact,” courts must ndasen
the distinct requirements that the injury musbbgh particularized and concretid. An injury
is particularized if it “affect[s] the plaintiff in a pgwnal and individual way.”Id. (internal
guotations omitted).“A ‘concrete’ injury must be ‘de facto’; that is, it must actually exisid:

But aconcrete injury need not bangible.” 1d. at 1549.In deciding whether an intangible injury

is concrete, courts should look at whether Congress has elevated the harm to be legadligleogniz
through statute, and at whether the harm “has a close relationship to a harm ttzatitiasaity

been regarded gwoviding a basis for a lawsuit in English or American courtd.” Under this
analysis, “he violation of a procedural right granted by statute can be sufficient in some
circumstances to constitute injury in fadh other words, a plaintiff in suchcase need not allege

anyadditionalharm beyond the one Congress has identifiéd. However,the Courtcautioned

2 Defendant has not argued that Plaintiff lacks prudential standing, and | find that j@iustanting exists here.
See Fed. Election Comm’n v. AkiB24 U.S. 11, 20 (1998) (“[P]rudential standing is satisfied when the injury
asserted by a gintiff arguably falls within the zone of interests to be protected or regulatee jatite in
guestion.”) (internal alterations and quotations omitted).
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thatthe congressional powerelevatentangibleharmsinto concretanjuriesis not withoutlimits,
andthata“bareproceduraviolation, divorcedrom anyconcreteharm” cannot'satisfy the injury-
in-factrequiremenof Article I1.” 1d.

In the context ofFCRA, the Courtin Spokeoprovidedtwo examplesof procedural
violationsthat“probably” would notresultin anyconcretenarmandarenotsufficientto causean
injury-in-fact: (1) when an agencyfails to provide noticeto a userof the agency’sconsumer
information, but thenformationis entirely accuratepr (2) incorrectreporting byanagencyof a
consumer’'gip code,withoutmore. Id. at 1550. Beyond thoséwo exampleshoweverthe Court
warnedthat it “express[ed]no view aboutany other types offalse information that may merit
similar treatment.” Id. n.8. The Courtremandedor the Ninth Circuit to considerwhetherthe
statutory violations alleged in that case,namely the publication ofinaccuratebiographical
informationabout theplaintiff, createdaconcretenjury. Id. at 1550.

As noted by bothPlaintiff andDefendantdistrict courts around the countsnceSpokeo
havegrappledwith the question oivhencertainviolationsof FCRA or otherconsumeprotection
statutexreateconcreteinjuries suchthatplaintiffs have standingandtheresultshave noalways
beenconsistent. In the Third Circuit, however,there are severalprecedentialdecisionssince
Spokedhatdefine the contours of the injulip-factrequirement.

TheThird Circuit hasrepeatedlyheldthatSpokedlid not“intend to changethetraditional
standardor theestablishmendf standing”and“did notalter” thecourt’sapproactio theanalysis

Horizon 846 F.3dat 638(3d Cir. 2017)(citing In re Nickeladeon ConsumeéPrivacy Litig., 827

F.3d 262, 2733d Cir. 2016))(hereinafterNickelodeon”). These cases have been summarized at

length by Third Circuit decisions and in my own previous decisions, and so | will not béilaivor t

history here.SeeKamal v.J. Crew Grp. Inc. 918 F.3d 102, 1112 (3d Cir. 2019)Tongev.
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Fundamental Labor Strategies, In277 F. Supp. 3d 809, 811B (E.D. Pa. 2017) (McHugh, J.)
It is enoughto saythatthe Circuit hasrepeatedlyexaminedconsumer protectiostatutesandthe
majority of thesecase$ “have been decidedly in favor of allowing individuals to sue to remedy
violations of their statutory rights, even without additional injuriéngv. Septa903 F.3d312,
322 (3d Cir. 2018) The court has instructed that tw]hen onesuesunder astautealleging‘the
very injury [the statute]is intendedo prevent,’andthe injury‘hasacloserelationshipto aharm.
. .traditionally. . . providing @asisfor alawsuitin English orAmericancourts,’a concretanjury
hasbeenpleaded.” Susinnov. Work Out World Inc., 862 F.3d 346, 35@d Cir. 2017) (quoting
Horizon, 846 F.3cht 639-40).4

Two of thesecasedavedealtwith violations ofFCRA, andin bothcasesheThird Circuit
found that the allegedstatutory violations gavese to an injury-in-fact, evenwithout additional
harmbeyond theviolationitself. SeeLong 930F.3dat325;Horizon 846 F.3cat639. In Horizon,
laptopswith unencrypted personaiformationhadbeenstolenfrom the business’offices, and
theplaintiffs allegedthat HorizonviolatedFCRA by failing to takereasonableneasure$o protect
consumemformation. Horizon, 846 F.3cht630-31.As instructedoy Spoleg, the court conducted
a two-part analysis,looking bothat the judgment of Congress elevatingharmsto be legally
cognizableandat the commonlaw analogue$rom Americanand English courts.ld. at 639-40.
The courtanalogizedthe unauthorizedisclosure ofinformationto the invasion ofprivacy torts

actionableat commonlaw. Id. at638-39. Second, the court foutiétdisseminatiorof personal

3The only case to dismiss the entire suit for lack of jurisdiction was also thésanost reently decided case,
Kamalv. J. Crew Grp. Ing 918 F.3d 102 (3d Cir. 2019As discussed belowiamalwas not brought under FCRA
and is distinguishable from this case.

4 Other Circuits sinc&pokediave articulated the test fimjury-in-fact similarly to that of the Third CircuitSee
Strubel v. Comenity BanB42 F.3d 181190(2d Cir. 2016)“[A] n alleged procedural violation can by itself
manifest concrete injury where Congress conferred the procedural right to prptatiff's concrete interests and
where the procedural violation presentsisk of real harmto that concrete intere%t; Deher v. Experian Info.
Sols., Inc.856 F.3d 337346(4th Cir. 2017)Lyshe v. Lev@54 F.3d 855, 861 (6th Cir. 2017).
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privateinformationwastheexactharmCongress sougl preventby enacting=CRA. Id. at 639.
Giventhis analysisthe court foundhatthe allegedstatutoryviolation alonecreatedan injury in
fact, andthat the plaintiffs did notneedto allegeadditionalharmin orderto establishstanding.
Seeid. at 639 (“[W]ith the passageof FCRA, Congressestablishedthat the unauthorized
disseminatiorof personainformationby acreditreportingagencycausesaninjury in andof itself
— whetheror not the disclosure d@hat informationincreasedherisk of identity theft or some
otherfutureharm.”).

In Long v. £PTA a class of plaintiffs alleged thaEBTA violated their rights under
FCRA by failing to provide them with their consumer reports before taking adverse actimiron t
employment actions, and by failing to provide them with the required notices under the statute
Long 903 F.3d at 317. The court found thEPI A's alleged failure to provide the plaintiffs with
their consumer reports before taking adverse action gave rise to standing, as thieewary
harm that Congress sought to prevent, arising from prototypical conduct proscribed Girike F
and as the injury in question had a “close relationship” to corlawrcauses of action for
invasion of privacy. Id. at 324. Nonethelessthe court found thatESPTA's alleged failure to
notify the plaintiffs of their rights under the FCRA did not injure the plaintiffs,esthey had
clearly become aware of their rights such that they filed the lawsuit within theripe time
period. Id. at 325. It concluded that this was a “‘bare procedural violation, divorced from any
concrete harm,’ that caoh‘satisfy the injuryin-fact requirements of Article II.”” Id. at 325
(quotingSpokep136 S. Ct. at 1549).

Guided by these decisions, | conclutlat Plaintiff has established standing as to two of

the alleged violationsspecifically violations ofections 1681(e)(b) and 1681(a)(1)(A), but that
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the remaining alleged violations areere proceduraliolationsdivorced from any harm, and thus
do not give rise to standirg.

A. Reasonable Procedures to Assure Maximum Possible Accuracy of
Information— 15 U.S.C. § 1681e(b)

Under FCRA section1681e(b),“[w]henever a consumer reporting agency prepares a
consumer report it shall follow reasonable procedures to assure maximulnhepassuracy of the
information concerning the individual about whom the report relates.” 15 U.S.C. § 1681e(b).
Plaintiff alleges that Sagestream violated gestionby including inaccurate information about
his discharged bankruptcy debt in his consumer report. Am. Compl. fi&Zlleges that the
report states that he owes a balance, and that the balance increased between 2076whd201
in fact the debt was discharged in 2018. 1 89. Plaintiff alleges that he has “suffered actual
damages, mental anguish, frustration, humiliation, and embarrassrteit.73. Plaintiff further
argues that the statutory violation itselfy beporting inaccurate information, in and of itself
constitutes concrete, albeit intangible, injuri?l. Opp. to Def. Mot. to Dismiss PI. First Am.
Compl. at 79, ECF11. | agree with Plaintiff that an alleged violation of section 1681e(b) harms
an undeying concrete interest and creates an ifjuryact for standing.

The Third Circuit has instructed that “an alleged procedural violation manifest[s]
concrete injury if the violation actually harms or presents a material riskraftbaheunderlying
concrete interest.’Kamal 918 F.3d at 112 (internal citations omijtetitherefore must examine
both whether section 1681e(b) of the FCRA protects a concrete interest and ibrviofathat

subsection harms the underlying interest.

5> Beyond standing, Defendants have not otherwise challenged this Court’s-suhbifestjurisdiction to hear this
case. Such jurisdiction exists under 28 U.S.C. § 1331
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This subsection of thetatute mandating that agencies create procedures for the “maximum
possible accuracy” of consumer informatiprotects a concrete interetCRA seeks “to ensure
fair and accurate credit reporting” and “to protect consumer privaSgéco Ins. Co. of Am.
Burr, 551 U.S. 47, 52 (2007). Claims stemming from the inaccurate reporting of one’s financial
information, especially detrimental information, are substantially similar to caafsastion
recognized at common law such as libel, defamation, and invasion of priseey.ong903 F.3d
at 324 (“Common law privacy rights were historically understood as being invaded by . . . publicity
that unreasonably places the other in a false light before the public.”) (quotingdiageifent of
Torts (Second) see also Spokeo v. Rohidg6 S. Ct. 15401551-54(Thomas, J., concurring)
(noting that“[p] rivate right$ have traditiondy includes rights of personal security (including
security of reputation) . .courts historically presumed that the plaintiff sufferatedactoinjury
merely from having his persondegal rights invaded” and suggesting tlsaiction 1681e(b)
potentially creates &private duty” to protect an individual’s information).

When the Ninth Circuit examined this section of FCRA upon remand from the Supreme
Court it found the sameSee Robins v. Spoked67 F.3d 1108, 1114 (9th Cir. 201@¢yt.denied
138 S.Ct. 931 (2018) There, the plaintiff alleged that a consumer reporting agency published
inaccurate information about his age, education, marital status, and Wwekaltii111 Thecourt
had “little difficulty” in deciding that section 1681e(b) vas edablishedto protect concrete
interestssince“the threatto a consumer’sivelinood if causedy thevery existenceof inaccurate
informationin hiscreditreport. . . [and] the likelihoodhatsuchinformationwill be importanto
one of themanyentiieswho makeuse ofsuchreports . . especiallyin light of thedifficulty the

consumer might have learningexactlywho hasaccesse@or whowill accesshiscreditreport.”
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Id. at 1114. The court notedthat the harmelevatedby Congresss similar to the commoraw
cause®f actionfor defamatiorandlibel perse. Id. at 1115.

Defendanits alleged violation of section 1681le@jtually harmsplaintiff's underlying
interestin accurateeportingof hisfinancialinformation. As noted by théNinth Circuit “[i]t does
nottakemuchimaginationto understand howaccurateeports. . . couldoedeemedarealharm.”
Robins 867 F.3dat 1117. Rather, “the realworld implications of material inaccuraciesin
[consumer]reportsseempatentontheir face.” Id. at 1114. Plaintiff assert¢hat hewentthrough
bankruptcy proceedings orderto discharge debtandthat a publicly availablerecord of his
financesnow statesthat he owesthousands oflollarsin debt. Am. Compl. § 8-9. The harmto
Plaintiff stemsfrom the very existenceof this inaccuratereport,and he hasthusestablishedn
injury in fact. SeeHorizon 846 F.3dat 639-40;seealso Robins867 F.3dat 1117-18(“[I] n the
context of theFCRA, [the] allegedintangible injuryis itself sufficiently concrete.lt is of no
consequence holikely [the plaintiff] is to sufferadditionalconcreteharmaswell.”).

Defendantgoint to the Third Circuit’s decisionin Kamalto arguethat Plaintiff hasnot
establifiedstanding, buKamalis distinguishabl@nddoes notompelthatresult. In Kamal the
plaintiff allegedviolations of theFair and AccurateCredit Transaction®ct (FACTA), because
defendantl. Crewhadprintedtendigits of hiscreditcardnumber onmeceiptgor purchases their
storesandFACTA mandateshatstoresnclude namorethanfive digits on areceipt. Kamal 918
F.3d at 107-08. The plaintiff allegedthat the printing ofextra digits createda concreteharm
becauset exposed himo anincreasedisk of identity theft. 1d. at 108. The court foundthatin
draftingthe FACTA, Congress did nahtendto elevatethe proceduraharmof printing six extra
digits, without additionaharm,to constitutean injury-in-fact. Id. at 113. The courtalsofound

thattheharmallegedby theplaintiff wasnot analogouso harmstypically actionableat common

10



Case 2:20-cv-01820-GAM Document 13 Filed 11/17/20 Page 11 of 24

law. Id. at 114. Becausedhestatutoryviolation did notitself causenarm,thereforethecourtnext
examinedwhether theviolation createda sufficiently high risk of harm suchthat the plaintiff
establishedtanding. Id. at 115. The court foundthat only a “highly speculativehainof future
events"wouldleadto identity theft causeddy the inclusion o$ix extradigits on a prinédreceipt.
Id. at 116. The courtcontrastedhe casewith Horizon, where*it wasthe allegedinjury’s close
relationshipto a traditionaharmthat showedt wassufficiently concreteto createstanding.” Id.
at 115. In contrastwith Kamal, Plaintiff herehasallegeda statutoryviolation that, like thosein
Horizon andLong is sufficiently concreteto createstandingand doesnot rely on aspeculative
chainof futureevents.

“In the context of a motion to dismiss.the injuryin-fact element is not Mount Everest.
The contours of the injurin-fact requirement, while not precisely defined, are very generous,
requiring only that claimant allege some specific, identifiable trifle of injurygtizon, 846 F.3d
at 633 Here, Plaintiff has alleged a concrete, particularized iAjfiact and has established

standing for defendant’s alleged violation of section 1681e(b).

B. Reasonable Reinvestigation— 15 U.S.C. § 1681i(a)(1)

For many of the same reasons, | find that Plaintiff has established stantbrijeaalleged
violations of the FCRA regarding the reasonableness of Defendant’s reinvestigatioiler
section 1681li(a)(1)when a consumer reporting agency receives natfca dispute from a
consumer of the “completeness or accuracy of any item of information contained in a@dssum
file” then the agency “shall, free of charge, conduct a reasonable reinvestigatietermine
whether the disputed information is inaccarat 15 U.S.C. § 1681i(a)(1)(A) As part of its
reinvestigation, the agency also must “provide notification of the dispute to any person who

provided any item of information in dispute” within five days of receiving notice of dispurte fr

11
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the consumerl5 U.S.C. 8§ 1681i(a)(2)(A). Within thirty days of receiving notice of the dispute,
the agency must “record the current status of the didnfiamation, or delete the item from the

file” and the agency must provide written notice to the consumer of the results of the
reinvestigation “not later than 5 business days after the completion of the reini@stigdb
U.S.C. 88 1681i(a)(1)(A); 1681li(a)(6)(A)Plaintiff alleges that Defendant violated his rights
under this statute by not conducting a reasonable reinvestigation and by failing to follow
mandatory timelines during the investigation. Am. Compl. 1Y 64-67.

Whether the agency conducts a reasonable reinvestigation implicates theosanete
interestas described in Sectidh. A, supra and likewise give rise to standing he&eeCortez v.
Trans Union 617 F.3d 688, 713 (3d Cir. 2010 ongress thought this protection so vital to the
statutory scheme of the FCRA that it included a specific provision requiring cegditting
agencies to maintain procedures to prevent the reappearance of informati®déheteid because
it is misleading or inaccurate.”$pe alsaJones v. Experian Info. Sols., In882 F. Supp. 2d 268,

272 (S.D.N.Y. 2013) (holding thatction1681i(a)(1)(A) “confer[reflupon Plaintiff a statutory
entitlement to a reasonable reinvestigation once she dispute[d] an item onditenepat” and
that the defendants’ alleged failure to fulfill its obligation caused “amafatoncrete injury which
is particularized to Platiff . . . She may have suffered no actual damages but her rights were
violated and Congress has provided statutory damages for any such violation.”)

Defendants cit®ecker v. Early Warning Servs., LLIg. 19-5700, 2020 WL 2219142, at *1
(E.D. Pa. May 7, 2020), recently decided by my colleague Jounhgi In Becker the plaintiff
alleged that the defendant had violated the FCRA by listing her account as “closead iofsas
“voluntarily closed” on her consumer report. Understandably, Judge Smith foursdc¢had
semantidiscrepancy did not create any harm to the plaintiff. Specifically, he concluded that
“listing an account as closed (as opposed to voluntarily closeld)."not present a ‘material

risk of harm’ to the plaintiff.”Id. at*5. Here, in contrast, listing inaccurate information about a
debt that has actually been discharged, is a real, lzatinmore importantlyis exactly the type

12
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of harm the FCRA is meant to protect agaiAstd as part of protecting against that harm,
Congress specified a procedure and a timeframe within which to address suasdisput

The other elements of standing also exist as to this alleged violation and the alleged
violation of section 1681e(b). Beyond showing that these injuries are concrete, Flamatso
shown that they are particularized to him, such that an Hiufstct exists Plaintiff alleges that
these injuries wereaused by Defendant, and tisachinjuries could be redressed by this Court.
Defendant passingly mention#iese lattetwo elements in one sentence, but as Defendant does
not seem to seriously dispute thatgh two elements exist if an injury-fact has been shown, |
will not devote more time expounding upon them.

C. Procedural Violations in Defendant’s Letter

Plaintiff's remainingclaimsrelate to the letter he receivédm Defendantn response to
his reinvestigation request. Am. Compl. 7-68; Letter, ECF 6. He alleges various statutory
deficiencies inhat letter. Id. BecausePlaintiff has not alleged th#étese procedural violations
harm or create a “real risk of harm” to a concisaterest, | find that Plaintiff has not established

standing on these issueSee Kamal918 F.3d at 111.

I. Notice Regarding Reinvestigation Procedures- 15 U.S.C. §
1681i(a)(6)(B)(iii)

When responding to reinvestigation requests, agenciesinolgdie “if requested by the
consumer, a description of the procedure used to determine the accuracy anceoesgpldtthe
information shall be provided to the consumer by the agency, including the business name and
address of any furnisher of information contadte@¢onnection with such information and the

telephone number of such furnisher, if reasonably available.” 15 U.S.C. §a)@&1B)(iii).

81 note that Plaintiff has standing regarding Defendant’s alleged violations o€fRA Bectiois that mandate
investigation timelines only insofar as those timelines implicate the reasorsabtdriee reinvestigation as a whole.
If Defendant’s reinvestigation resulted in a complete and accurate credtt thporthe extended length of the
investgation, without more, would likely fail to create a concrete injury. At this stzgpguse the reinvestigation
as a whole is alleged to be unreasonable, | find that Plaintiff has standing ag t@lldwedd procedural violations.

13
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Defendant provided this required notice in its July 2018 lefiéye second paragraph of
the letter states “At yaurequest, we will provide you with the name and address, and phone
number (if available) of any information provider we contacted and a description of theyresce
we used to determine the accuracy and completeness of your disputed informagbrn.étter,
ECF 6.

Plaintiff challenges this, pointing to additional language in the letter, which he alleges
renders this notice ineffectual. Am Comfl2224. Paragraph three of the letter states, in its

entirety:

Please note that if you disputed information that Sagestream received from Innovis
Data Solutions, Inc. (the “Innovis Information”), Sagestream is a resél&ich
information and does not maintain a database of Innovis Information to produce
new consumer reports. The enclosed reinvestigation results reflect the actions
taken, or not taken, by Innovis. If disputed information has not been changed,
Innovis verified it. In all cases, we provided Innovis with all the relevant
information you provided to us. You may wish to contact Innvois directly to
confirm that the files it maintains on you are accurate and complete. Innovis’
address, telephone number and website are as follows:

Innovis Data Solutions, Inc.
P.O. Box 1640

Pittsburgh, PA 15230-1640
1-800-540-2505
WWW.IiNNoVis.com

Def. Letter,ECF 6 Plaintiff alleges that “[u]pon information and belief, Defendant did not obtain
the Lending Clubnformation disputed by Plaintiff from Innovis By Plaintiff's logic therebre,

this language is intentionally misleading in tikahsumeravould assume they do not need to
contact Defendant for a description of the procedure, because the informatioreadyg been
given. Am Compl. § 24.Defendantespondghat because thegeired notice is included in the

letter, Plaintiff cannot clainmjury.

14
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By includingthe required statutory notice in its lett@efendant complied with the statute.
But, even if the inclusion of additional, potentially extraneous information, coutdthsdered a
procedural violation, it would be one divorced from any harm and thus insufficient to establish
standing. Plaintiff does not allege that he attempted to follow up with Sagestream, as was his
statutory right, and was unable to do $tatherhe states that an average consumer would think
there was no poinin contacting Defendanbecausdhe notice makes it sound as though all
informationcomes from Innovis. Am. Compl. T 24n the same paragraphowever, Plaintiff
states that “upon information and belief,” the information did not cénm Innovis. Ibid.
Plaintiff therefore seems to be aware of his rights, bringing this case athgwv.SEPTA supra.
There,the plaintiffs were able to exercise their rightdwithstanding the defendant’s failure to
provide notice of those rights and they therefore could not allege a concrete injury. 903 F.3d at
325. As in Long, the violation alleged here is a “bare procedural violation, divorced from any
concrete harm.ld. (QuotingSpokep136 S. Ct. at 15493ee alsaGroshek v. Time Warner Cable,
Inc., 865 F.3d 884, 887 (7th Cir. 201 Ho(ding that plaintiff did not establish standing for a
procedural violation under the FCRA because plaintiff's “complaint containedlegation that
any of the additional information caused him to not understand the consent he was giving; no
allegation that he would not have provided consent but for the extraneous information on the form
... Instead, he simply alleged tf@¢fendaris] disclosure form contained extraneous information.
We conclude thajplaintiff] has alleged a statutory violation completely removed from any
concrete harm or appreciable risk of harmDgher v. Experian Info. Sols., In@56 F.3d 337
347 (4th Cir.2017 (holding that an agency’s failure to list the correct name of the servicer on a
credit report did not create standing when the plaintiff was able to receigemvices he needed

notwithstanding the error).
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Plaintiff points toWilson v. Quadramed Corfor the proposition that “more is required
than the mer@nclusionof a statutory notice, the notice must also be conveyed effectiveRb”
F.3d 350, 354 (3d Cir. 2000)Wilsonis not controlling, however, asdtcase was brought under
the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act and relied on the “least sophistideldor” standard to
analyze claims.ld. at 354. Moreover, the court there found that the notice at issue, although
confusing, wasn fact satisfactory because “the least sopbéded would not be induced to

overlook his statutory rights” to dispute the delot. at 356. Longcontrols the outcomieere.

il. Notice Regarding Disputed Information— 15 U.S.C. § 1681i(d)

Under section 1681i(d) of the FCRAfter “anydeletion of information which is found to
be inaccurate or whose accuracy can no longer be verified or any notation as to disputed
information,” the agency “shall, at the request of the consumer, furnish riagifichat the item
has been deleted or thatement, codification or summary pursuant to subsection (b) or (c) to any
person specifically designated by the consumer who has within two years pebo tleeeived a
consumer report for employment purposes, or within six months prior thereto rexemesumer
report for any other purpose, which contained the deleted or disputed inforind®i.S.C. §
1681i(d).
The letter sent to Plaintiff stated (in all capital letters), that

If any information has been deleted because it has been foledinaccurate or

because its accuracy can no longer be verified, then, upon your request, we will

furnish (A) notification that the item has been deleted or (B) a summary of your

statement of dispute to any person specifically designated by you who éatsyrec

received a consumer report on you from us, which contained the deleted or disputed

information.

Def. Letter,ECF 6. Plaintiff takes issue with two points of this disclosuFérst, Plaintiffalleges

that Defendant’'suse of the word “recently” instead of “two years” or “six months” violates the
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FCRA. Am. Compl.  2&9. It is not clear that the substitution of the word “recently” is a
violation at all, and Plaintiff has naited any authority to support such a propositiohnd, as

with the procedural violation discussed above, even if it could be deemed a violation, it would be
a procedural violation divorced from any harm, as Plaintiff has not alleged any harm or risk of
harm stemming from this phrasing.

Second, Plaintiff alleges that the netiiolates FCRA because the first sentence states that
the agency will furnish notice only if information has been deleted or whose ac@amaco
longer be verified, but not if the plaintiff has merely disputed the information. Am. C§r3ft
32. Althoughthe first sentence is somewhat confusitng, sameparagraph alsetates that the
agency will furnish “a summary of your statement of dispute,” and so, as @evet clear that
there is any violation at allDef. Letter,ECF 6.

For each of these three alleged procedural violations, Plaintiff has not made #sanece
threshold showing for standingdrirst, Plaintiff has not made clear that, as interpreted by courts,
these discrepancies are in fact violationBORA. SecondPlaintiff has not shown that the alleged
violations of these statutes create harm such that the violation itself repsémjisy-in-fact.
Plaintiff does not argue that the harms created by these procedural nlatoe elevated by
Congress in créihg FCRA, and does not point to any commlanv analogue for these procedural
harms. Moreover, the only cases Plaintiff cites to in relation to these subsectiansirzdisthe
FDCPA or the Truth in Lending Act (TILA), not the FCRBee StrubelB42 F.8l at185 Grubb
v. Green Tree Servicing, LL.Glo. 1307421, 201 AL 3191527 at *1 (D.N.J. July 27, 2017);
Pisarz v. GC Servs., L,Mo. 164553, 2017 WL 1102636, at *1 (D.N.J. Mar. 24, 201@nder
Kamal Plaintiff must therefore show that these procabviolations create gealrisk of harm to

an underlying concrete intered€amal, 918 F.3d at 111Plaintiff has nomade this showing.
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Because Plaintiff lacks standing as to these allegations, | lack soiaéet jurisdiction to
consider them antherefore dismiss paragrap68 through 6%f the First Amended Complaint
without prejudice.See Idat 119 (“[T]he case should be dismissed without prejudice because the
District Court lacked jurisdiction.”) (citin@ottrell v. Alcon Labs.874 F.3d 154164 n.7 (3d Cir.

2017)).

V. Motion to Dismiss for Failure to State a Claim

In addition to moving to dismiss for lack of subpeaatter jurisdiction, Defendant moves to
dismiss Plaintiff’'s First Amended Complaint in its entirety for failure to statais upon which
relief can be grantedin this Circuit, motions to dismiss under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure
12(b)(6) are governed by the webtablished standard set forthHowler v. UPMC Shadyside
578 F.3d 203, 210 (3d Cir. 2009pefendant’smotion is granted as to Plaintiff's claims that
allege Defendant acted as a reseller. Defendant’s motion is denied asheratlams.

A. Reasonable Procedures to Assume Maximum Possible Accuracy of Informatien
15 U.S.C. § 1681e(b)

Plaintiff alleges that Defendant both negligently and willfully violated 15 U.S.C. § 1681e(b)
by failing to “follow reasonable procedures to assure maximum possible accuracy of the
information concerning” Plaintiff in his consumer repddeel5 U.S.C. § 1681e(b); Am. Compl.

1 63. As a threshold issue, Defendant disputes that the document containing inaccurate
information is a “consumer report.” A consumer report is

[A]ny written, oral, or other communication of any information by a [CRA]

bearing on a consumer’s credit worthiness, credit standing, credit capacity,

character, general reputation, personal characteristics, or mode of living which is

used or expected to be used or collected in whole or in part for the purpose of

serving as a factor in estahing the consumer’s eligibility for (A)credit or
insurance to be used primarily for personal, family, or household purposes;
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(B)employment purposes; or (C)any other purpose authorized under section
1681b of this title.

15 U.S.C. § 1681a(d)(1)A consumer report is distinct from a consumer file, and only the former
is protected by the FCRA sections at isstee Becker2020WL 2219142at *8 n.7 (contrasting
consumer reports, with a consumer “file” which is “the agency’s fileckviti provides to the
consumer, not third parties, and contains information solely as to transactions oeregseri
between the consumer and the person makingepeet”), Id. at *8 (dismissing claim because the
plaintiff did not allege that the file had been shared with third parties). Defendmmeisahat
Plaintiff has not alleged errors within a consumer report, and that this dlauddikewise be
dismissed. However,Plaintiff allegesthat Defendant “issued credit reports to third parties with
the erroneous information regarding Lending Club.” Am. Compl3.7 Blaintiff has therefore
alleged that Defendant issued a consumer report, and | decline to dééamgif’'s claim on that
basis.

Negligent noncompliance with section 1681e(b) contains four elenféh)sinaccurate
information was included in a consurtgecredit report; (2) the inaccuracy was due to defendant’s
failure to follow reasonable proceduresassure maximum possible accuracy; (3) the consumer
suffered injury; and (4) the consumer’s injury was caused by the inclusion of the ata@niry.”
Cortez 617 F.3dat 708 (3d Cir. 2010fciting Philbin v. Trans Union Corp.101 F.3d 957, 963
(3d Cir. 1996)).

Thefirst issue to decides whether the information in the rep@inaccurate.fhformation
is inaccurate when it is eithgpatently incorrector ‘misleading in such a way and to such an
extent that it can be expected to adversely affesditcdecisions. Schweitzer v. Equifax Info.
Sols., LLC 441 F. App'x 896, 902 (3d Cir. 201@itations omitted)Plaintiff here sufficiently

alleges that the debt information is inaccurate.
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“Judging the reasonableness of a credit reporting agency’s procedures invobesgvei
the potential harm from inaccuracy against the burden of safeguarding against suafadyacc
Cortez 617 F.3dat 709. When evaluating agengyoceduresunder this subsection, the Third
Circuit has made clear that the standard femttion1681e(b) of “maximum possible accuracy”
imposes a high burden foreditreporting agencies:

Moreover, the distinction between “accuracy” and “maximum possible accuracy”

is not nedy as subtle as may at first appeatr, it is in fact quite dramatic. For example,

in Pinner v. Schmidt805 F.2d 1258 (5th Cir. 1986), the Court of Appeals for the

Fifth Circuit described that distinction as the difference between repdintimta

person vas‘involved’ in a credit card scairand reporting that the consunieras

in fact one of the victims of the scdnhd. at 1263. The former statement was

undoubtedly true as the consumer had Baerolved” in the scam. It was also

woefully misleading because it did not inform people that she was involved as a

victim of the scam, and not as the perpetrator.

Id. In the context of summary judgment, the Third Circuitfe@®gnized that a plaintiff
mayshow violations of this subsectiby: (1) “produc[ing]some evidence beyond a mere
inaccuracy in order to demonstrate the failure to follow reasonable pres&di2) “that

the jury may infer the failure to follow reasonable procedures from the mere faot of
inaccuracy”; or (3) “that upon demonstrating an inaccuracy, the burden shifts to the
defendant to prove that reasonable procedures were folloWedtéz 617 F.3d at 710
(citing Philbin, 101 F.3d at 965 Significantly,“[ tjhe reasonableness of a credit reporting
agency's procedures isiormally a question for trial unless the reasonableness or
unreasonableness of the procedures is beyond questarat709.

At this stage, Plaintiff has alleged a factual inaccuracy and has alleged that this inaccuracy
was caused by Defendant’s failure to institute reasonable procedures. Am. Cé68)ghdfeby

stating a plausible claim for relief. Fowler, 578 F.3d at 211 (internal quotations omitted).

Defendant’s motion to dismiss thisatch is therefore denied
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B. Reasonable Reinvestigation— 15 U.S.C. § 1681i

When a consumer notifiescaedit reporting agencgf potentially inaccurate information
in his or her credit file, the CRA is obligated to completeesasonable” feinvestigatiorwithin
thirty days.” 15 U.S.C. § 1681li(a)(1)(A). This reinvestigation “must consist of something more
than merely parrotingnformation received from other sources” and so a reinvestigation “that
merely shifts the burden back to the consumercannot fulfill the obligations contemplated by
the statute.”Cushman v. Trans Union Cord.15 F.3d 220, 225 (3d Cir. 199 ncean agency
is on notice, through a consumer contact, that there is information that may not lbg togre
agency bears “grave responsibilities to ensure the accuracy of that informatiolal.”(citing 15
U.S.C. 8§ 1681(a)(4)) In order to establiskhat an agency is liable under this provision of the
FCRA, the plaintiff “must establish that [the agency] had a duty [to reinvestagdigpute], and
that it would have discovered a discrepancy had it undertaken a reasonable investiGatitez.”

617 F.3dat713.

Plaintiff alleges thahe alerted Defendant of inaccurate information on his credit report,
and that the reinvestigation Defendant conducted upon receiving this notice was notteasona
Am. Compl. 165. Theletter sent to Plaintifis urclear as to whethddefendanitself conducted
areinvestigation to the source material, or whether it wholly relied on Inn&@s: 6. In either
case, “it is clear that a reasonable reinvestigation must mean more thanischyaing public
documents in a consumer report or making a cursory investigation into the reliability of
information that is reported to a potential creditoCbrtez 617 F.3dat 713. And in cases where
the consumer has alerted the agency to a patemdiccuracy, the agency may hdeeduty to go

beyond the original sourtén conducting its reinvestigatiofCushmarv. Trans Union Corp.115
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F.3d 220, 22%3d Cir. 1997. Again, Plaintiff has alleged facts sufficient to show a plausible claim
for relief, and Defendant’s motion to dismiss this claim is dentgee Fowler578 F.3d at 211.

C. Willful and Negligent Allegations— 15 U.S.C. 88 1681n and 16810

Plaintiff allegeghatDefendantviolatedtheFCRA both negligentlyandwillfully. Am. Compl.
1 63-65. Undersection1681n of theFCRA, if an agency“willfully fails to comply with any
requiremenimposed undethe FCRA]” theagencyis liable for actualdamagesustainedy the
consumeras a resultof the failure” or for damagesof not lessthan $100and not more than
$1,000.” 15 U.S.C. 8681n(a)(1)(A). The agencymay alsobeliable for punitivedamagesand
for attorney’sfees. 15 U.S.C. § 1681n(a)(4B). Undersection1681o,if anagency‘is negligent
in failing to complywith any requiremenimposed undejthe FCRA]” thenthe agencyis liable
for "any actualdamagesustainedy the consumeasaresultof thefailure” aswell asattorney’s
fees. 15 U.S.C. § 16810(a).

Plaintiff allegesthat Defendantactedwillfully. Specifically, Plaintiff allegesthat the letter
sentto consumersvasan “intentionalactto misleadthe consumer.’Am. Compl. { 30.As | have
dismissedthe claims relating to the letter for lack of standing, however, Will focus on the
remainingclaims,relatedto the procedures @efendantandthereinvestigation.

The Supreme Coutteldthatin the context of thECRA, “willful meansbhoth knowinglyand
in recklessdisregardof the FCRA'’s requirements.” Safecolns., 551 U.S. 47, 57 (2007). An
agencymay actwillfully “by adopting a policyvith recklessdisregardof whetherit contravenes
aplaintiff's rights under th& CRA.” Cortez 617 F.3cat 721;seealso Cushmad 15 F.3dat 227
(“If [plaintiff] canprove,asshearguesthat[the agency] adopteids reinvestigationpolicy either

knowing that policy to bein contravention of the righfsossessetly consumergpursuanto the
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FCRA orin recklesglisregardf whetherthe policycontravenedhose rights, sheaybeawarded
punitivedamages.”).

At this point,it is tooearlyto dismisstheseclaims until dscoveryyieldsrelevantinformation
on the proceduresemployed byDefendant The Third Circuit has made clear that the
“reasonablenessif anagency’'sproceduress oftena questiorior the jury,andwithout assessing
thatthreshold questiorit, is too earlyto decidewhetherany allegedviolation would bewillful or

negligent.Cortez 617F.3dat 709.

D. Reseller Allegations— 15 U.S.C. § 1681i(f)

A consumer reporting agency is a “reseller” underRGRA if it “(1) assembleandmerges
informationcontainedn thedatabasef another consumeeportingagencyor multiple consumer
reportingagenciesoncerningany consumerfor purposes of furnishinguchinformationto any
third party,to theextentof suchactivities;and(2) does nomaintaina databasef theassembled
or mergedinformationfrom which new consumereportsareproduced.”15U.S.C. § 1681a(u).

Plaintiff allegesjn thealternativethatif Defendantvasnotactingasa aeditreportngagency
in this instancethenit wasactingasa resellerandis liable under the governing provisioifigr
resellers.Am. Compl. I 70-72Defendantssertshatit wasnotactingasaresellerandthateven
if it were resellersare exemptfrom reinvestigation requirementsand so all claims against
Defendantsaresellershould bedismissedDef. Mot. To Dismissat 12-13.

SageStrears correct.Undersection1681i(f), a esellermust provide theamedisclosuresn
communicationsvith consumerssa consumer reportinggencybutis otherwiseexemptfrom
reinvestigatiorrequirements.15 U.S.C. 8 1681i(f).As discussedabove, Ihaveconcludedhat
Plaintiff does not have standirig challengethe allegeddeficienciesin the letter at issue. A

resellerwould not bdiable under theemainingsections1681i(a)(1)(A)and1681e(b).Although
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Defendantcould beliable as a resellerfor not completingthe reinvestigationwithin prescribed
timelines,seel5 U.S.C. 81681i(f)(2), | havealso concludedthat violation of timelinesalone
would notcreateaninjury-in-fact Consequentlythis claim wouldfail evenif Defendantwverea
reseller.Seenote 6,supra Plaintiff's allegatons againstDefendantas a resellerare therefore

dismissed.

V. Conclusion
For the reasons above, Defendant’s motion to dismiss for lack of suétetr jurisdiction is
granted in part and denied in part. Further, Defendant’s motion to dismissldog to state a

claim is granted in part and denied in part. An appropriate order follows.

5/ Gerald Austin McHugh
United States District Judge
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